2016

Scott Bell and Todd Bell, Plaintiffs, vs. Wesley Lewis and Jordan Construction, Inc., Defendants.

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Notice of Appeal was sent to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to *Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j)(2012 – Addendum 1)*. Pursuant to Rule 42 of the *Utah Rules of Appellant Procedure*, the Utah Supreme Court has issued an order retaining the case in the Utah Supreme Court effective July 6, 2016.

ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court erred in quashing the Writ of Execution issued February 16, 2011 and canceling the Utah County Sheriff's Notice of Sale No. 11-0741.

“The standard for setting aside a sheriff's sale is based on case law. ‘[The Court] consider[s] the trial court's interpretation of that law for correctness.’” *Meguerditchian v. Smith*, 2012 UT App 176, ¶ 9, 284 P.3d 658 (quoting *State v. Richardson*, 843 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). Preserved in the trial court at R. 0957-1044.

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Jordan Construction's declaratory relief claim and in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Ruling that FNMA is not Bound by the Outcome of the Litigation Between Scott Bell and Jordan Construction.

“Because the propriety of a 12(b)(6) dismissal is a question of law, we give the trial court's ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard.” *Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., Inc.*, 779 P.2d 668, 669 (Utah 1989)(citing *Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat'l Bank*, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987)); *Kimball v. Campbell*, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985). Preserved in the trial court at R. 1108-1155 and 1269-1283.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that Jordan Construction was not entitled to pre-judgment interest on its mechanic's lien claim pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1.

"A trial court's decision to grant or deny prejudgment interest presents a question of law which we review for correctness." *Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc.*, 2003 UT 41, ¶ 16, 82 P.3d 1064 (quoting *Cornia v. Wilcox*, 898 P.2d 1379, 1387 (Utah 1995)). *Iron Head Const. Inc. v. Gurney*, 2009 UT 25, ¶ 7, 207 P.3d 1231, 1232

A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the court's legal conclusions. *Davis v. Sperry*, 2012 UT App 278, ¶ 10, 288 P.3d 26, 30. Preserved in the trial court at R. 2562-2566.

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that the Second Amended Notice of Mechanic's Lien was untimely.

A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the court's legal conclusions. *Davis*, 2012 UT App at ¶ 10, 288 P.3d at 30. Preserved in the trial court at R. 3824-3903; 3236-3299; and 3477-3540.

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether the trial court erred in denying Jordan Construction's Motion for Leave to Amend Admission.

"We review the denial of [a motion to withdraw admission] under a 'conditional discretionary standard', first determining if certain conditions have been met and then determining if the district court abused the discretion that it is allowed once the conditions have been met." *Barnes v. Clarkson*, 2008 UT App 44, ¶ 9, 178 P.3d 930, 932 (quoting *Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc.*, 952 P.2d 1058, 1060-61 (Utah 1998)).

[O]ur review of the district court's action on a rule 36(b) motion is a two-step process: In the first step, we review the trial court's determinations as to whether amendment or withdrawal would serve the presentation of the merits and whether amendment or withdrawal would result in prejudice to the nonmoving party. In the second step, we review the trial court's discretion to grant or deny the motion. Only after both rule 36(b) conditions have been met does a district court have discretion to grant or deny the motion to withdraw admissions, which decision we review for an abuse of discretion. But the court's preliminary determination as to whether the rule 36(b) conditions have been met is subject to a somewhat more exacting standard of review.

Id. at ¶ 12 (internal quotes omitted). Preserved in the trial court at 3477-3540 and 3599-3604.

ISSUE NO. 6: Whether the trial court erred in determining FNMA to be the prevailing party and erred in awarding FNMA its attorney fees and costs.

The question of which party is the prevailing party is a question for the trial court, and we therefore review the trial court's determination on this matter for abuse of discretion. *See R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 25, 40 P.3d 1119. However, the court's interpretation of binding case law on this matter is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *See Houghton v. Department of Health*, 2005 UT 63, ¶ 32, 125 P.3d 860.

Preserved in the trial court at R. 4080-4107 and 4274-4284.

ISSUE NO. 7: Whether the trial court erred in refusing to award Jordan Construction its attorney fees and costs.

“Which party is the prevailing party ... depends, to a large measure, on the context of each case, and, therefore, it is appropriate to leave this determination to the sound discretion of the trial court. We therefore review the trial court's determination ... under

an abuse of discretion standard.” *R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 25, 40 P.3d

1119. Preserved in the trial court at 4313-4357 and 4443-4448.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court erred in quashing the Writ of Execution issued February 16, 2011 and canceling the Utah County Sheriff’s Notice of Sale No. 11-0741.

Rule 64. Writs in General

...

(e) Claim to property by third person.

(e)(1) *Claimant's rights*. Any person claiming an interest in the property has the same rights and obligations as the defendant with respect to the writ and with respect to providing and objecting to security. Any claimant named by the plaintiff and served with the writ and accompanying papers shall exercise those rights and obligations within the same time allowed the defendant. Any claimant not named by the plaintiff and not served with the writ and accompanying papers may exercise those rights and obligations at any time before the property is sold or delivered to the plaintiff.

(e)(2) *Join claimant as defendant*. The court may order any named claimant joined as a defendant in interpleader. The plaintiff shall serve the order on the claimant. The claimant is thereafter a defendant to the action and shall answer within 14 days, setting forth any claim or defense. The court may enter judgment for or against the claimant to the limit of the claimant's interest in the property.

(e)(3) *Plaintiff's security*. If the plaintiff requests that an officer seize or sell property claimed by a person other than the defendant, the officer may request that the court require the plaintiff to file security.

Utah R. Civ. P. 64(e).

Rule 64E. Writ of Execution

...

(d) Reply to writ; request for hearing.

(d)(1) The defendant may reply to the writ and request a hearing. The reply shall be filed and served within 14 days after service of the writ and accompanying papers upon the defendant.

(d)(2) The court shall set the matter for an evidentiary hearing as soon as possible and not to exceed 14 days. If the court determines that the writ was wrongfully obtained, or that property is exempt from seizure, the court shall enter an order directing the officer to release the property. If the court determines that the writ was properly issued and the property is not exempt, the court shall enter an order directing the officer to sell or deliver the property. If the date of sale has passed, notice of the rescheduled sale shall be given. No sale may be held until the court has decided upon the issues presented at the hearing.

(d)(3) If a reply is not filed, the officer shall proceed to sell or deliver the property.

Utah R. Civ. P. 64E(d).

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Jordan Construction's declaratory relief claim and in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Ruling that FNMA is not Bound by the Outcome of the Litigation Between Scott Bell and Jordan Construction.

§ 78B-6-1303. *Lis pendens*—Notice

(1)(a) Any party to an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah, or a Utah district court that affects the title to, or the right of possession of, real property may file a notice of pendency of action.

(b) A party that chooses to file a notice of pendency of action shall:

(i) first, file the notice with the court that has jurisdiction of the action; and

(ii) second, record a copy of the notice filed with the court with the county recorder in the county where the property or any portion of the property is located.

(c) A person may not file a notice of pendency of action unless a case has been filed and is pending in a United States or Utah district court.

(2) The notice shall contain:

(a) the caption of the case, with the names of the parties and the case number;

(b) the object of the action or defense; and

(c) the specific legal description of only the property affected.

(3) From the time of filing the notice, a purchaser, an encumbrancer of the property, or any other party in interest that may be affected by the action is considered to have constructive notice of pendency of action.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-1303.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that Jordan Construction was not entitled to pre-judgment interest on its mechanic's lien claim pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1.

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1. Interest rates--Contracted rate--
Legal rate

(1) The parties to a lawful contract may agree upon any rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action that is the subject of their contract.

(2) Unless parties to a lawful contract specify a different rate of interest, the legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action shall be 10% per annum.

(3) Nothing in this section may be construed in any way to affect any penalty or interest charge that by law applies to delinquent or other taxes or to any contract or obligations made before May 14, 1981.

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1.

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Second Amended Notice of Mechanic's Lien was untimely.

§ 38-1-7. Notice of claim -- Contents -- Recording -- Service on owner of property

(1) (a) (i) Except as modified in *Section 38-1-27*, a person claiming benefits under this chapter shall file for record with the county recorder of the county in which the property, or some part of the property, is situated, a written notice to hold and claim a lien within:

(A) 180 days after the day on which occurs final completion of the original contract if no notice of completion is filed under *Section 38-1-33*; or

(B) 90 days after the day on which a notice of completion is filed under *Section 38-1-33*.

(ii) For purposes of this Subsection (1), final completion of the original contract, and for purposes of *Section 38-1-33*, final completion of the project, means:

(A) if as a result of work performed under the original contract a permanent certificate of occupancy is required for the work, the date of issuance of a permanent certificate of occupancy by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the construction project;

(B) if no certificate of occupancy is required by the local government entity having jurisdiction over the

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Notice of Appeal was sent to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to *Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j)(2012 – Addendum 1)*. Pursuant to Rule 42 of the *Utah Rules of Appellant Procedure*, the Utah Supreme Court has issued an order retaining the case in the Utah Supreme Court effective July 6, 2016.

ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court erred in quashing the Writ of Execution issued February 16, 2011 and canceling the Utah County Sheriff's Notice of Sale No. 11-0741.

“The standard for setting aside a sheriff's sale is based on case law. ‘[The Court] consider[s] the trial court's interpretation of that law for correctness.’” *Meguerditchian v. Smith*, 2012 UT App 176, ¶ 9, 284 P.3d 658 (quoting *State v. Richardson*, 843 P.2d 517, 518 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). Preserved in the trial court at R. 0957-1044.

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Jordan Construction's declaratory relief claim and in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Ruling that FNMA is not Bound by the Outcome of the Litigation Between Scott Bell and Jordan Construction.

“Because the propriety of a 12(b)(6) dismissal is a question of law, we give the trial court's ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard.” *Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., Inc.*, 779 P.2d 668, 669 (Utah 1989)(citing *Atlas Corp. v. Clovis Nat'l Bank*, 737 P.2d 225, 229 (Utah 1987)); *Kimball v. Campbell*, 699 P.2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985). Preserved in the trial court at R. 1108-1155 and 1269-1283.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that Jordan Construction was not entitled to pre-judgment interest on its mechanic's lien claim pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1.

"A trial court's decision to grant or deny prejudgment interest presents a question of law which we review for correctness." *Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc.*, 2003 UT 41, ¶ 16, 82 P.3d 1064 (quoting *Cornia v. Wilcox*, 898 P.2d 1379, 1387 (Utah 1995)). *Iron Head Const. Inc. v. Gurney*, 2009 UT 25, ¶ 7, 207 P.3d 1231, 1232

A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the court's legal conclusions. *Davis v. Sperry*, 2012 UT App 278, ¶ 10, 288 P.3d 26, 30. Preserved in the trial court at R. 2562-2566.

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that the Second Amended Notice of Mechanic's Lien was untimely.

A trial court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the court's legal conclusions. *Davis*, 2012 UT App at ¶ 10, 288 P.3d at 30. Preserved in the trial court at R. 3824-3903; 3236-3299; and 3477-3540.

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether the trial court erred in denying Jordan Construction's Motion for Leave to Amend Admission.

"We review the denial of [a motion to withdraw admission] under a 'conditional discretionary standard', first determining if certain conditions have been met and then determining if the district court abused the discretion that it is allowed once the conditions have been met." *Barnes v. Clarkson*, 2008 UT App 44, ¶ 9, 178 P.3d 930, 932 (quoting *Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc.*, 952 P.2d 1058, 1060-61 (Utah 1998)).

[O]ur review of the district court's action on a rule 36(b) motion is a two-step process: In the first step, we review the trial court's determinations as to whether amendment or withdrawal would serve the presentation of the merits and whether amendment or withdrawal would result in prejudice to the nonmoving party. In the second step, we review the trial court's discretion to grant or deny the motion. Only after both rule 36(b) conditions have been met does a district court have discretion to grant or deny the motion to withdraw admissions, which decision we review for an abuse of discretion. But the court's preliminary determination as to whether the rule 36(b) conditions have been met is subject to a somewhat more exacting standard of review.

Id. at ¶ 12 (internal quotes omitted). Preserved in the trial court at 3477-3540 and 3599-3604.

ISSUE NO. 6: Whether the trial court erred in determining FNMA to be the prevailing party and erred in awarding FNMA its attorney fees and costs.

The question of which party is the prevailing party is a question for the trial court, and we therefore review the trial court's determination on this matter for abuse of discretion. *See R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 25, 40 P.3d 1119. However, the court's interpretation of binding case law on this matter is a question of law, reviewed for correctness. *See Houghton v. Department of Health*, 2005 UT 63, ¶ 32, 125 P.3d 860.

Preserved in the trial court at R. 4080-4107 and 4274-4284.

ISSUE NO. 7: Whether the trial court erred in refusing to award Jordan Construction its attorney fees and costs.

“Which party is the prevailing party ... depends, to a large measure, on the context of each case, and, therefore, it is appropriate to leave this determination to the sound discretion of the trial court. We therefore review the trial court's determination ... under

an abuse of discretion standard.” *R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook*, 2002 UT 11, ¶ 25, 40 P.3d

1119. Preserved in the trial court at 4313-4357 and 4443-4448.

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court erred in quashing the Writ of Execution issued February 16, 2011 and canceling the Utah County Sheriff’s Notice of Sale No. 11-0741.

Rule 64. Writs in General

...

(e) Claim to property by third person.

(e)(1) *Claimant's rights.* Any person claiming an interest in the property has the same rights and obligations as the defendant with respect to the writ and with respect to providing and objecting to security. Any claimant named by the plaintiff and served with the writ and accompanying papers shall exercise those rights and obligations within the same time allowed the defendant. Any claimant not named by the plaintiff and not served with the writ and accompanying papers may exercise those rights and obligations at any time before the property is sold or delivered to the plaintiff.

(e)(2) *Join claimant as defendant.* The court may order any named claimant joined as a defendant in interpleader. The plaintiff shall serve the order on the claimant. The claimant is thereafter a defendant to the action and shall answer within 14 days, setting forth any claim or defense. The court may enter judgment for or against the claimant to the limit of the claimant's interest in the property.

(e)(3) *Plaintiff's security.* If the plaintiff requests that an officer seize or sell property claimed by a person other than the defendant, the officer may request that the court require the plaintiff to file security.

Utah R. Civ. P. 64(e).

Rule 64E. Writ of Execution

...

(d) Reply to writ; request for hearing.

(d)(1) The defendant may reply to the writ and request a hearing. The reply shall be filed and served within 14 days after service of the writ and accompanying papers upon the defendant.

(d)(2) The court shall set the matter for an evidentiary hearing as soon as possible and not to exceed 14 days. If the court determines that the writ was wrongfully obtained, or that property is exempt from seizure, the court shall enter an order directing the officer to release the property. If the court determines that the writ was properly issued and the property is not exempt, the court shall enter an order directing the officer to sell or deliver the property. If the date of sale has passed, notice of the rescheduled sale shall be given. No sale may be held until the court has decided upon the issues presented at the hearing.

(d)(3) If a reply is not filed, the officer shall proceed to sell or deliver the property.

Utah R. Civ. P. 64E(d).

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Jordan Construction's declaratory relief claim and in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Ruling that FNMA is not Bound by the Outcome of the Litigation Between Scott Bell and Jordan Construction.

§ 78B-6-1303. *Lis pendens*—Notice

(1)(a) Any party to an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of Utah, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah, or a Utah district court that affects the title to, or the right of possession of, real property may file a notice of pendency of action.

(b) A party that chooses to file a notice of pendency of action shall:

(i) first, file the notice with the court that has jurisdiction of the action; and

(ii) second, record a copy of the notice filed with the court with the county recorder in the county where the property or any portion of the property is located.

(c) A person may not file a notice of pendency of action unless a case has been filed and is pending in a United States or Utah district court.

(2) The notice shall contain:

(a) the caption of the case, with the names of the parties and the case number;

(b) the object of the action or defense; and

(c) the specific legal description of only the property affected.

(3) From the time of filing the notice, a purchaser, an encumbrancer of the property, or any other party in interest that may be affected by the action is considered to have constructive notice of pendency of action.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-6-1303.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether the trial court erred in granting FNMA's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ruling that Jordan Construction was not entitled to pre-judgment interest on its mechanic's lien claim pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1.

Utah Code Ann. § 15-1-1. Interest rates--Contracted rate--
Legal rate

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