2016

**Jordan Construction, Inc Third-Party Plaintiff and Appellant, v.  
Federal National Mortgage Association, Third-Party Defendant  
and Appellee**

Utah Supreme Court

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

Jordan Construction’s owner, Wesley Lewis, confirmed as a 30(b)(6) witness that the final inspection where the home was “passed off” occurred in October 2008 and that no work was done after that. (R.2535-36.) “There were a few miscellaneous things that I got fixed, and I called for a final inspection, for the city to come out and do a final final, because they had hounded me at this point to get this permit cleared up and in compliance.” (R.2536.) He explained that this work was done, that the home passed final inspection, and that he saw a document from the city saying it was in compliance.

Q. And at some point the city – I’ve seen a document from the city where they eventually say, in compliance, and it essentially appears to be closed out.

A. In October, yeah.

(R.3458.) As the district court pointed out, Utah law provides that a recorded notice that a certificate of occupancy had been issued creates a presumption that

it actually has been issued. “A recorded document creates the ... presumption[ ]” that the “recitals and other statements of fact in a document including without limitation recitals concerning mergers or name changes of organizations, are true.” Utah Code § 57-4a-4(1)(j). “Thus, there is a statutory presumption,” the district court explained, “that the Property passed final inspection, and a certificate of occupancy was thereafter issued in October of 2008.” (R.3949-50.) “This presumption,” the court said, “is further supported by deposition testimony, affidavit testimony, and discovery responses, all of which point to the existence of an October 2008 certificate of occupancy.” (R.3950.)

Further, the Provo City Code required that the certificate of occupancy be issued in October 2008, when the home passed final inspection. “A Certificate of Occupancy ... is required to be issued by the Planning Commission of Provo City at the time a building is completed and final inspection granted by the Building Inspection Division.” Provo City Code § 14.01.090(2). There is no explanation for why a certificate of occupancy would not have been issued in October 2008. Thus, the district court concluded, “Jordan has failed to demonstrate that the admitted fact is untrue.” (R.3949-50.)



**2. Allowing Jordan Construction to withdraw the admission would have prejudiced FNMA.**

“[F]ailure [by the moving party] to satisfy the first requirement of rule 36(b) relieves [the nonmoving party] of the burden of showing [prejudice].” Langeland, 952 P.2d at 1061. Thus, there’s no reason to consider prejudice. In any case, the district court also correctly found that FNMA would be prejudiced by withdrawal of the admission. The test “is whether the party is now any less able to obtain the evidence required to prove the matter which was admitted than he would have been at the time the admission was made.” Id. at 1063 (quotation marks omitted).

Jordan Construction admitted, not only in its formal admission, but from the very beginning of this case, that the second amendment to the mechanic’s lien occurred after the statutory time period for amending the lien had expired. The original Third Party Complaint filed against FNMA admitted that it paid off subcontractors and then amended its lien “[a]fter the six month period in which other subcontractors could assert a lien on the Property had expired ....” (R.1051.) And in four separate summary judgment memoranda, Jordan Construction repeatedly acknowledged that the amendment was untimely. (R.2585; 2588; 2683; 2686; 2854-55; 2858.)

Rather than contend that the second amendment was timely, Jordan Construction made three other arguments: (1) FNMA should be bound by the findings against Bell – who had never raised the timeliness issue, (R.2690-98); (2) the amendment should relate back to the original lien under Rule 15 (R.2689-90); and (3) the untimeliness should be overlooked under the doctrine of substantial compliance (R.2688-89). But Jordan Construction did not move to withdraw its admission or otherwise argue that the second amendment was timely.

On April 15, 2014, Jordan Construction even attached the June 2011 certificate of occupancy as an exhibit to its motion for summary judgment. In fact, it is attached twice. (R.2949; 2955.) Yet, Jordan Construction still continued to admit that the second amendment was untimely. One of the undisputed facts in support of this motion stated: “On or about July 27, 2009, *after the six month period* in which other subcontractors could assert mechanic’s liens on the Property had expired ... Jordan Construction ... recorded a Second Amended Notice of Mechanic’s Lien.” (R.2858.) FNMA’s opposition admitted that this fact was undisputed. (R.3122.)

In short, from the time Jordan Construction filed its Third Party Complaint against FNMA in September 2011, through June 2014, it was an undisputed fact that the second amendment was filed after the allowed statutory period had

expired. Hence, there was no discovery into this issue. No Provo City officials were deposed. No one even mentioned the June 2011 certificate of occupancy.

That changed at an oral argument on various motions for summary judgment on June 23, 2014, when Jordan Construction brought the June 2011 certificate of occupancy to the court's attention and argued for the first time that the second amendment was timely because it was recorded within 180 days of this certificate. (R.3204; 3219-20.) But even then Jordan Construction did not move to withdraw or amend its admission. That was not done until April 6, 2015—26 months after making the admission, more than a year after fact discovery closed, and six-and-a-half years after the case was originally filed. (R.3474-75.) Trial was scheduled for August (R.3814) and Jordan Construction was now seeking to withdraw its admission and reopen discovery (R.3813-19).

The district court concluded that allowing withdrawal of the admission at this late stage, after years of failing to raise the issue, would prejudice FNMA. "If the date of the certificate of occupancy were now declared to be an open question," the court explained, "FNMA would be left attempting to depose witnesses in order to confirm" that a certificate of occupancy was in fact issued in 2008. (R.3810.) Given the seven years that had passed, "it seems unlikely that any witness would be equipped" to say what had happened to the 2008 certificate. (R.3810.) No discovery was conducted because the fact had been

admitted. “To retract that admission now would clearly cause prejudice to FNMA.” (R.3810.)

There is no conceivable reason why a certificate of occupancy would have been issued in 2011 (unless it was a replacement for a lost certificate) and not in 2008. But the passage of time would clearly complicate FNMA’s efforts to prove that. No Provo City official is going to remember what happened to a certificate of occupancy in 2008. Prejudice can be presumed merely from the passage of time. See Young v. W. Piling & Sheeting, 680 P.2d 394, 395 (Utah 1984) (“The prejudice and disadvantage to the defendant is readily apparent. Some witnesses may no longer be available; recollections may be dimmed. Valuable evidence may have long been discarded or destroyed.”); Kuhn v. Mount, 44 P. 1036, 1038 (Utah 1896) (imposing a time bar where “the transaction has faded from memory, or the evidence has been lost”).

Moreover, prejudice exists where a motion to withdraw is made after fact discovery is closed and a previously uncontested fact is being challenged. See also See Conlon v. United States, 474 F.3d 616, 624 (9th Cir. 2007) (nonmoving party was prejudiced where motion to withdraw admission was not filed until two-and-a-half months after fact discovery was closed); Pedroza v. Lomas Auto Mall, Inc., 258 F.R.D. 453 (D.N.M. 2009) (prejudiced where understanding

throughout the case was consistent with admissions and the request to withdraw was post-discovery and on the eve of trial).

In short, before the district court could even exercise its discretion to allow Jordan Construction to withdraw its admission, the burden was on Jordan Construction to show that the admission was untrue. Jordan Construction did not meet that burden. The district court also correctly concluded that withdrawal would prejudice FNMA. The “preliminary determination as to whether the rule 36(b) conditions have been met ‘is subject to a somewhat more exacting standard of review’” than mere abuse of discretion. Barnes v. Clarkson, 2008 UT App 44, ¶ 12 quoting Langeland, 952 P.2d at 1060-61. The district court’s decision survives even this “somewhat more exacting” abuse-of-discretion review.

**3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow Jordan Construction to withdraw its admission.**

As noted, a trial court has discretion to grant a motion to withdraw only if the preliminary 36(b) requirements are satisfied, but it has discretion to deny withdrawal regardless of those requirements. Langeland, 952 P.2d at 1060-61. “Decisions placed within the discretion of the trial court can be reversed only upon a finding of abuse of discretion, i.e., if there is no reasonable basis for the decision.” Id. at 1061. In this case, there was plainly a reasonable basis.

First, it is undisputed that work on the home was completed in October 2008, a final inspection was done, the Notice of Noncompliance was revoked, and a document was recorded stating: “A Certificate of Occupancy has been issued.” (R.3388.) Jordan Construction’s admission was consistent with these undisputed facts.

Further, this case was litigated for nearly three years (including 26 months after the admission) without Jordan Construction ever contending that the second amendment to the lien was timely. And Jordan Construction had plenty of opportunities. The June 2011 certificate of occupancy was obtained by FNMA on July 2, 2013, and quickly provided to Jordan Construction. Jordan Construction submitted it to the district court as an exhibit in April 2014, but still did not move to withdraw its earlier admission.

Additionally, by the time Jordan Construction finally did move to withdraw the admission, discovery was long over and trial was approaching. The district court was not willing to reopen discovery. (R.3816.) “Based upon this procedural history, the Court concludes that Jordan’s attempt to delay consideration of summary judgment and re-open discovery to investigate an issue which all parties have been aware of since 2013 is not timely.” (R.3816.) The court added that Defendant “has had literally years to investigate” the issue “but has inexplicably waited until now to seek additional discovery.” (R.3817.)

Finally, this case was already more than six years old when this issue was raised. As this Court said in Langeland, “[l]itigation must come to an end sometime,” and the rules of civil procedure are intended help that happen. Id. at 1064. Thus, a court does not have to “come to the rescue of a party” that admits a fact and then waits too long to withdraw that admission. Id.

For these reasons, the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Jordan Construction’s motion to withdraw its admission.<sup>7</sup>

**B. Equitable tolling does not save the untimeliness of the second amendment to the mechanic’s lien.**

Jordan Construction next attempts to save the untimely second amendment to its mechanic’s lien through the doctrine of equitable tolling.

**1. Jordan Construction did not raise this argument below.**

In the district court, Jordan Construction raised three arguments to try to overcome the untimeliness of the second amendment to the lien: (1) res judicata,

---

<sup>7</sup> Jordan Construction argues that it should have been allowed to withdraw or amend its admission because the admission at issue was not directly responsive to the request it was responding to. Aplt. Br. at 46. The district court correctly rejected this argument because “nowhere in Rule 36 does it suggest that an answer must be an unqualified ‘yes’ or no,” rather, the rule “clearly allows parties to admit in part, deny in part, and provide details.” (R.3811.) Jordan’s response was “permissible under Rule 36, and there is no basis to strike the language now, simply because Jordan regrets including it.” (R.3811.) Plus, this argument ignores the numerous other admissions throughout the case that the second amendment was untimely.

(2) substantial compliance, and (3) relation back. The equitable tolling argument was not raised. Because Jordan Construction “never raised this argument below,” it has “waived [its] right to urge its consideration on appeal.” State v. Martin, 2002 UT 34, ¶ 28 n.4.

**2. Equitable tolling does not apply to mechanic’s lien statutory deadlines.**

Even if the argument was not waived, equitable tolling does not apply to amending a mechanic’s lien. “A lien created solely by statute depends on the terms of the statute.” 2 Ton Plumbing, 2015 UT 29, ¶ 21. Thus, “compliance with the statute is required before a party is entitled to the benefits created by the statute.” AAA Fencing Co. v. Raintree Devel. & Energy Co., 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1986). In AAA Fencing, the lien claimant brought its foreclosure action after the statutory period for doing so had expired, but argued that the defendant had waived that defense by not pleading it. Id. at 290-91. The court rejected the argument and held that lien claimants lose their lien if they fail to file the foreclosure action within the required time. The court “distinguish[ed] mechanics’ lien statutory periods from procedural statutes of limitations,” which would be subject to waiver and tolling. Id. at 291. “[T]he statutory period is not merely a statute of limitations but a condition of liability itself ....” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).



The time for filing and amending a lien is set by express statutory command. See Utah Code § 38-1-7(1)(a)(i)(A). Thus, “notices of liens may not be amended in any substantial manner after the time has expired for the filing of the same.” Roberts Inv. Co. v. Gibbons & Reed Concrete Prod. Co., 449 P.2d 116, 118 (Utah 1969). “Unless authorized by statute, a mechanic’s lien claim or statement may not be amended after the expiration of the time for filing.” 56 C.J.S. Mechanics’ Liens § 193; see also 53 Am. Jur. 2d Mechanics’ Liens § 231 (“In the absence of a statute providing for an amendment, a mechanic’s lien claim or notice required to be made and filed cannot be materially amended, and it must be complete and legally sufficient when filed and it cannot even be reformed in equity.”).

Further, there is no basis for equitable tolling. Jordan Construction was not deceived. It timely filed a lien for the amount it was owed. The untimely amendment was for amounts owed to subcontractors. Some had timely filed liens. Jordan Construction paid those subcontractors, released their liens, and added the amount to its own lien. Others chose not to file a lien for whatever reason. But there is no evidence they were deceived. And nothing in the mechanic’s lien statutes allows a contractor to untimely amend its lien after paying off a subcontractor.

In short, the equitable tolling argument was waived, does not apply to mechanic's liens in any case, and would not be applicable in this case even if it did apply to mechanic's liens.

**C. The "relation back" rule does not apply to mechanic's liens.**

Finally, Jordan Construction argues that the untimely amendment should relate back under rule 15(c) to the original notice of lien. Aplt. Br. at 42-43. Rule 15(c) says that a "claim or defense asserted in [an] amended pleading ... relates back to the date of the original pleading" if it "arose out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set forth ... in the original pleading." Utah R. Civ. P. 15(c). An amendment to a mechanic's lien is not a new "claim or defense" in an "amended pleading" and there is no "original pleading" for it to relate back to. See Utah R. Civ. P. 7.

And the mechanic's lien statute does not provide for relation back of an amended notice of lien. Utah courts "will not infer substantive terms into the text [of a statute] that are not already there." Associated Gen. Contractors v. Bd. of Oil, Gas & Mining, 2001 UT 112, ¶30 (quotations and citation omitted). Further, "relation back" would conflict with the strict deadlines set forth in the carefully crafted mechanic's lien statutes.

\* \* \* \* \*

For all these reasons, the second amendment to Jordan Construction's mechanic's lien was untimely and the district court properly granted summary judgment in FNMA's favor on this issue.

**V. The district court's conclusion that FNMA was the "prevailing party" and award of attorney fees was not an abuse of discretion.**

The mechanic's lien chapter requires fees to be awarded to the prevailing party. "[I]n any action brought to enforce any lien under this chapter the successful party shall be entitled to recover a reasonable attorneys' fee, to be fixed by the court." Utah Code § 38-1-18(1).

**A. The district court considered the context and correctly concluded that FNMA was the successful party.**

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